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For hundreds of years before European contact in 1540, the region now known as the Eastern Tennessee Valley had a thriving population living in many large towns, with numerous smaller villages and individual farmsteads scattered along the river and its tributary creeks.  The people living here had a life style that had been evolving for the past five hundred years, with some cultural roots going back even further.  Modern archaeologists have termed the culture of these people “Mississippian.”

The unique way of life began more than a thousand years ago in the middle Mississippi Valley, as the result of the introduction of a superior strain of maize, and possibly non-material concepts as well, from Mexico.  There is no evidence that this involved an actual migration of people from Mexico, but rather the gradual spread of ideas, possibly by traders, that reached the Middle Mississippi Valley by way of the Canadian, Red, or Arkansas Rivers.  (1) The maize, or “corn” provided a stable food source for an increased population that created complex societies like the city of Cahokia, near the modern Collinsville, Illinois. 

Cahokia, in the Middle Mississippi Valley, was the first and greatest of the Mississippian societies, reaching its peak between A.D. 1000 and 1200.  The evidence indicates that Cahokia emerged as a regional capital with dramatic suddenness through a complicated and still little understood process of political and social negotiation, which merged new political realities with traditional communities and households.  The Cahokia people erected more than one hundred earthen mounds that show a high degree of sophisticated engineering methods.  The largest of these, Monk’s Mound, was more than a hundred feet high and covered 16 acres at the base. Other large mounds extended in two rows on either side of Monk’s Mound.  Archaeologists believe that a small group of elite mound builders with specialist expertise constructed these mounds. Structures built on top of them served as public buildings and housing for the elite.  The mounds border a 47-acre plaza area.  This central area of Cahokia covered 200 acres and was surrounded by a strong log wall with guard towers and gates. (2)

Cahokia grew to be the largest city north of Mexico.  Estimates of its population at that time range from 8,000 to more than 42,000, with the actual figure probably being somewhere in between, making it about the same size as contemporary London.  How much territory was actually controlled by Cahokia is debatable, but its influence clearly extended over several hundred miles.  (3)

          From the Middle Mississippi Valley the agriculturally based Mississippian culture spread along the fertile river bottoms throughout the American southeast.  In some cases a Mississippian society divided, with part of the people moving far away to develop an unoccupied area.  More often, however, local people adopted the Mississippian way of life as a defense mechanism. The Mississippian culture brought about much greater changes in the lives of the people than simply growing corn.  Cultivation of corn on a large scale is a highly labor-intensive undertaking.  Clearing large forests with stone tools, cultivating the cleared land, planting corn, and caring for it until harvest, required a large and disciplined work force.  During the earlier Woodland times, the individual usually cared for his own needs through personal effort, but the Mississippian style agriculture required a socio-political structure with a person in authority to direct the group labor of others.  As the population grew, due to the reliable food source that the corn provided, so did competition for the more productive land.  This made skilled military leaders necessary to protect the towns and cornfields from hostile outsiders.  The socio-political system that evolved to meet these needs is what modern anthropologists call a “chiefdom.”  (4)   

In the southern chiefdoms the large fields were communally owned, and vital decisions as to what and when to plant were made by the elite ruling class, who also directed the harvest and saw to the storage of surplus in granaries for distribution as needed.  The organization and discipline used for agricultural work was also used to construct mounds to serve as platforms for public buildings and living quarters for the elite.  The same labor force also built walls and other defensive works for the town.  In this manner, much of what is now the southeastern United States became divided into a number of highly developed chiefdoms (Sears has termed them “states”) consisting of a differentiated ceremonial center that was probably also a political center.  Large socio-political centers developed around Etowah in Georgia (5), Moundville in Alabama (6), and possibly Garden Creek in North Carolina (7).  On the Chattanooga riverfront the Citico Mound site was the seat of a chiefdom that exercised considerable power in this section of the Tennessee Valley  (8).

The ruling families in the chiefdoms justified their position by claiming divine descent, usually from the Sun, which was commonly held to be a female deity.  Thus, the person of the chief was sacred, and in rituals he represented the sacred.  In this manner elaborate ideological concepts were used to rationalize the authority of the chief and his lineage, making him the earthly representative of the Sun.  The position of chief was hereditary through the female line.  Sometimes, a woman might rule in her own right, and when a man held the supreme position, he did so due to who his mother or sister was.  The principal town in the chiefdom was the one in which the chief lived.  This was usually surrounded by a number of vassal towns that owed allegiance to him.  The manner in which some towns came to dominate others is not clear.  Sometimes it was probably through conquest by force of arms.  It some cases it may have been brought about through marriages between members of the elite class.  Since there were obvious advantages to having a powerful ruler to oversee large agricultural projects, arrange distribution of food, organize the building of mounds and other construction activities, and direct military affairs, some chiefdoms may have come into being through mutual consent (9).

In the Eastern Tennessee Valley, late Mississippian culture is represented by what has been termed by the archaeologists as the Dallas Phase.  Dallas is identified by shell-tempered pottery that is usually plain, incised or decorated with artistically modeled human or animal figures.  Due to the agricultural economic base, the Dallas people lived in large fortified towns near the river, or along major creeks.  Their public buildings and houses of the elite were located on top of large mounds.  These mounds grew as periodically the structures were burned or pulled down, and the entire thing covered by a new layer of earth.  The individual houses of the common people were wattle and daub with thatch roofs located around an open plaza.  There seems to have been an increased interest in ceremonialism and the paraphernalia of social rank, as indicated by expressions of what has been termed the Southern Cult, or the Southeastern Ceremonial Complex.  There are a number of indications of growth at this time.  The increased larger size of Dallas towns, ranked social positions evidenced by engraved shell gorgets and other exotic artifacts, indications of craft specialization, and formal defensive works, indicate a well-developed society  (10).

The name “Dallas” is derived from the site of a large town on the Tennessee River near the modern city of Chattanooga where the cultural traits that make up this phase of Mississippian culture were first investigated.  At first, this site was called the Yarnell Site, after the name of the property owner, but it was changed to “Dallas” because it was located opposite the south end of an island in the river that was named Dallas Island.  (11)
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Location of the Dallas Site (40HA1) on the Southeast side of the Tennessee River opposite Dallas Island.   (Photograph Number HA1(F) – Digital ID fhm01142)  WPA/TVA Archives, presented courtesy of Frank H. McClung Museum, The University of Tennessee. 

This area was occupied by Cherokees during the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries.  In 1826 John Ross, a Cherokee mixed blood who had been raised white, decided to enter tribal politics.  His friend Charles Hicks, a well-educated half-blood, prepared a series of letters to familiarize him with traditional Cherokee history.  In the second letter, Hicks, who had previously recounted the earlier movements of the Cherokee which brought them into the upper portion of the Hiwassee River Valley, continues with the statement:  “The Uchees became their nearest neighbors who settled on the south side [of the Hiwassee River] opposite to the mouth of the Highwassee River and the Creeks made their settlement at Sawtee above the mouth of Oo, le, te, wauh.”  (12)

Lewis and Kneberg have pointed out that:  “The Sawtee site mentioned by Hicks can refer only to the large and important Dallas site located a half mile above the mouth of Wolftever Creek, which in Hicks’ time was probably known as Ooltewah Creek, since today this name is applied to the upper portion of Wolftever Creek.  This site together with the Hixon site just across the Tennessee River has furnished some of the best data on the Dallas culture.”  (13)  

We know, therefore, that the Native name for the town that is now called the Dallas Site – at least in so far as it was pronounced by Cherokees – was “Sawtee.”  This name still survives in the local area in a community north of Chattanooga that is now known by the Anglicized name “Soddy.”
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Koasati Ceremonial house floor having clay benches inside the four walls at the base of the Dallas Mound (40HA1). [Photograph Number HA1(A) – Digital ID fhm01137]

WPA/TVA Archives, presented courtesy of Frank H. McClung Museum, The University of Tennessee.  

The first Europeans to observe the people living in towns that are now called Dallas Phase sites were the Spaniards.  In 1540 Hernando de Soto led an expedition that explored portions of the upper East Tennessee Valley.   The Spanish party first visited a chiefdom that was centered on Zimmerman’s Island in the French Broad River.  Then they traveled south along the river, passing the present site of Knoxville and came to another chiefdom centered on the island town of Coste.  Other Spanish sources recorded the name of the town as “Acoste,” “Acosta,” and “Costehe.”  John R. Swanton has pointed out that these are variants of the name “Koasati.”  Furthermore, Charles Hudson has stated, based on other native words recorded by the Spaniards, that:  “Most, if not all, of the languages spoken in this Dallas area appear to have been Koasati, or dialects of Koasati – all members of the Muskogean language family.”  Working with available data in 1939, Swanton misidentified the location of the island town of Coste as having been located on Pine Island in northern Alabama.  We now know, however, that it was on Bussell Island at the mouth of the Little Tennessee River.  (14) 

Hudson has also pointed out that many of the earlier Muskogee names for sites in the Tennessee Valley were later altered by Cherokees.  In view of this factor, it is highly probable that the name “Sawtee,” used by Cherokees for the town that became the Dallas type site, was actually derived from [Koa] Sawtee, or Koasati.  A closer examination of the Dallas Phase material culture can only strengthen the hypothesis that these people were actually Koasatis.

[image: image4.jpg]



Tali, a late Koasati town in the Little Tennessee Valley (Known to the Cherokees as 

“Toqua”)  circa AD 1450. Life-size mural by Greg Harlin.  Presented courtesy of Frank H. McClung Museum, The University of Tennessee. 

In the mural shown above by Greg Harlin, the leaders of the Koasati town of Tali are assembled in front of the civic buildings on the summit of Mound A. The occasion is the "Busk," a four to eight day event that climaxed the ceremonial year. On the plaza before them, a single-pole stick ball game is in progress, with spectators watching and socializing; the residential structures extend back to the protective palisade walls. The scene is based on research by University of Tennessee, Knoxville, archaeologists who excavated the Monroe County, Tennessee, site in the 1970s. Information on clothing and ornaments derive from artifacts and from images made by the Mississippian peoples themselves. Most of the items shown in the painting are displayed in the exhibition. The name "Toqua" comes from the Cherokee town of that name that later occupied the same location.  The standard with the cross served as a fan and sunshade, and was an emblem of rank and importance. This is documented by both Rodrigo Rangel and the Gentleman of Elvas, chroniclers of the 1539-43 expedition of Hernando de Soto through the Southeast. Elvas describes "...a sort of fan of deerskin...the size of a shield, quartered with black and white, with a cross made in the middle...set on a small and very long staff...." Current thought is that the cross symbolizes the cardinal directions and the sacred fire, and the circle symbolizes the sun.  (15)

For more than two hundred years, from around A.D. 1400 to approximately A.D. 1650, we know that the dominate force throughout the Eastern Tennessee Valley was the people that archaeologists call Dallas, who were the people, as shown above, that called themselves the Koasati.  There were at least four, and possibly as many as seven, Koasati chiefdoms that flourished during this time.  Each of these chiefdoms consisted of a ruling town surrounded by a few auxiliary towns.  In the earliest times each chiefdom would been an autonomous socio-political unit.  Eventually, as will be shown below, the Koasati towns in the Tennessee Valley became vassals to the paramount chiefdom of Coosa.

By the 16th century the chiefdom system had developed to the point that a more powerful chief would take over surrounding primary chiefdoms and create a “paramount chiefdom.”  One of the greatest paramount chiefdoms in the American south was Coosa. The principal town of Coosa was located in the valley of the Coosawattee River in north Georgia, where the fast flowing streams had deposited an extremely fertile soil enriched by nutrients and minerals that weathered from the rocks in the mountains. Known to archaeologists as the Little Egypt Site, the town had three low mounds that indicate initial construction started around A. D. 1350 to 1400. This is about the time of the decline of the Etowah Site that was located a short distance to the south, and Coosa may have been started by people from Etowah. Coosa was the seat of a thriving chiefdom that dominated eight or ten tributary towns. One of these was Itaba, a small village located on the site of the once mighty Etowah. Coosa developed rapidly. By around 1475 there was evidence that its principal mound had been enlarged four times. Each of these enlargements probably represents a transfer of power from a passing chief to his successor. The population of the primary chiefdom of Coosa has been estimated at between 2,500 and 4,650 people. The material culture of Coosa combined elements from the Dallas and Lamar archaeological phases.   (16)

Sometime around A. D. 1500, Coosa ascended to the leadership of the greatest paramount chiefdom in the American south. At its height the paramount chiefdom extended from the primary chiefdom of Chiaha Olamico, located to the northeast on the French Broad River in Tennessee, to the primary chiefdom of Talisi, located to the southwest in Alabama. While Coosa, like most of the southeastern paramount chiefdoms, was made up primary chiefdoms consisting of people who spoke variants of the Muskogee language; this socio-political entity contained considerable linguistic diversity. There was eastern Muskogee, western Muskogee, Koasati, and possibly other languages as well being spoken. The paramount chiefdom exerted power and influence over at least seven, and possibly nine or ten primary chiefdoms.  Moving north from Coosa, the next primary chiefdom was that of the Tuskeegee/Napochín, located in what is now the Chattanooga area.  This chiefdom probably had a significant Koasati element.  Next came primary chiefdom in the Little Tennessee Valley, and then the Upper Chiefdom of Chiaha Olamico.  These northern chiefdoms were Koasati   and, as Swanton has pointed out, one of the earliest names for the Tennessee River was “The River of the Koasati.”  (17)
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Postholes from the stockade at the Dallas Site (40HA1) in Hamilton County, Tennessee.

Frank H. McClung Museum WPA/TVA Archive 

Each chiefdom had to be constantly ready to defend itself against any encroachment by neighboring chiefdoms. The greatest threat, however, came from outside the valley. In the mountains of what is now North and South Carolina there were a people who called themselves the Ani-yun-wiya.  The Muskogee speakers called these people Cilo-kkit-a, meaning “People who speak a different language.”  Europeans thought this term was an ethnic or ‘tribal’ designation and, after modifying it to fit their own language, applied it to the mountain people. The Spaniards called them Chalaque, while the French corrupted the Muskogee word to Cheraquis, and the English Anglicized it to Cherake, Cheerake, or Cherokee. These people who would come to be called Cherokees, had immigrated into the area from the north and spoke three distinct, but mutually intelligible dialects of the Iroquois language. They lived in more than sixty autonomous towns and had no concept of a central government. They practiced small-scale agriculture, but were also dependent on hunting and collecting wild plant foods. They were usually hostile to the more sophisticated Muskogee towns in the valley. (17)

            Another ethnic group, sometimes allied with, and sometimes a threat to the chiefdoms of the paramount chiefdom of Coosa, were the Yuchis.  In the Eastern Tennessee Valley, these were the people identified by University of Tennessee archaeologists as the Mouse Creek Phase. They were a powerful people with bands living in several widely separate parts of the southeast. Early Spanish sources identify them in southwestern Virginia, in west Florida, and on the Savannah River. Their language is a true isolate, being regarded as extremely hard to learn by all other Native people and distinct from all other Native American languages.  There are several alternate spellings of the name (Uchee, Uchi, Euchee, etc.) and the people were known by a number of different names including Hogologue, Tahogale, Chisca, Westo, Rickohockan, and Tamahatia. The local Mississippian people knew them as the Chisca, a powerful militant force that occupied fortified towns in what is now southwestern Virginia. Swanton commented on their independent stock language, and pointed that “Their isolation in this respect, added to the absence of a migration legend among them and their own claims, have led to a belief that they were the most ancient inhabitants of the extreme southeastern parts of the present United States.” While this belief has been challenged by other researchers, it is still a logical conclusion. If the Yuchis were the former Woodland period inhabitants of the Tennessee Valley, it is easy to understand their resentment at being pushed out by the Muskogee speaking Mississippian peoples.

The Yuchis called themselves Tsoyaha, meaning “Children of the Sun.” Their strongly palisaded towns typically contained a square ground, a hot house, and a ball field, as well as one-room domestic structures. The square ground surrounded the sacred fire and was the focus of daily life for the males of the community. They grew corn, beans and squash and hunted deer, bear, elk, and turkey. The control of large salt springs near the present Saltville, Virginia gave the Yuchis in the Chisca area a tremendous economic advantage in dealing with their neighbors.  Other regional ethnic groups included the Catawbas, a people speaking a variant of the Siouan language group in central North and South Carolina and scattered Algonquian speakers like the Shawnees and Saponi. These, however, had little or no interaction with the people in the local area.  (18)

The Koasati living in upper East Tennessee valley during the sixteenth century would have heard stories from the peoples further south about strange bearded men who came in large ships and traveled on the back of animals called horses.  These men were Spaniards, and in 1540 Hernando de Soto led a large group of them into interior of what is now the Southeastern United States.  Soto and his party passed within a few miles of the town of  Tanasqui on their way to visit the center of that primary chiefdom, Chiaha Olamico.   The Soto party continued south into to the main town of Coosa.  At Coosa, the Spaniards killed a number of Indians, enslaved others (including the sister of the Gran Cacique, and put him in chains.  From over a wide area, including the Koasati towns, fighters traveled south to confront Soto at the town of Mabila. After the hard fought battle, the force of Spanish arms won the day, but the soldiers suffered considerable loss in killed and wounded.  Most of the wounded suffered multiple wounds and the Spaniards had a total of 688 wounds.  Seven horses were killed and 29 wounded.  Several of the seriously wounded men died later.  Most of the slaves escaped, and the Spaniards lost most of their clothing, equipment, some weapons, all the pearls taken from the chiefdom of Cofitachequi, and even the sacramental chalices, wafer molds, and wine for saying mass.  The Koasati who survived the fight at Mabila returned to their homes, feeling that they had won a mighty victory.  They thought they had killed Soto, and brought much Spanish plunder with them as proof of their winning.  (19) 

Time passed, and life went on, but the paramount chiefdom of Coosa had suffered greatly from the Soto expedition.  Many men had been killed at Mabila, and many of the people enslaved by the Spaniards never returned.  The Spaniards had taken much food, and the critical agricultural season had been disrupted by the loss of workers.  Getting in a new crop of corn was difficult, and hunger resulted.  Some people may have died from sickness introduced by the Spaniards.  The population of Coosa fell, and some of the vassal primary chiefdoms began to consider breaking free.  One of these was the Tuskegee-Napochín chiefdom in the Chattanooga area.  (20)

At some time after the Soto incursion, the Napochín stopped paying tribute to Coosa.   They then killed some of the people of Coosa, who may have been attempting to collect the tribute.  Hostilities between the two peoples escalated, and one of the towns, located to the north of the uninhabited buffer zone around the primary chiefdom of Coosa near the Conasauga River, and probably a Tuskegee-Napochín town, was destroyed.  There were other raids and retaliations back and fourth and most of these seem to have been won by the Napochín.  By 1560, twenty years after the Soto expedition through the southeast, the Napochín had made themselves independent of the primary chiefdom of Coosa.  Furthermore, they had disrupted the lines of communication between Coosa and the vassal chiefdoms in the Little Tennessee Valley as well as the upper chiefdom at Chiaha.  (21)

Tristan de Luna y Arellano brought an expedition from Mexico to the Bay of Ochuse, in the modern Pensacola area, on August 14, 1559.  Five days later, a hurricane sank most of his vessels and destroyed at least half of his equipment and supplies, including food.  There was little food to be had in the immediate area, and the Spaniards suffered great want through the winter and into the spring of 1560.  During these hungry times, there was much talk about Soto’s province of Coosa, that was said to be one hundred leagues long, and containing numerous towns with a good supply of food.  Some of the soldiers had, as young men, taken part in the Soto expedition and remembered Coosa as a place where food had been plentiful. Luna ordered Mateo del Sauz to lead a party consisting of about forty cavalrymen and one hundred infantry, to Coosa in search of food.  A woman who had been captured from Coosa during the Soto expedition accompanied them as an interpreter.  Two friars, Domingo de la Anunciacion and Domingo de Salazar were also included in the party.  (22)

Sauz and his detachment traveled up through what is now Alabama and following the Coosa River into the present Georgia to reach the main town of Coosa on the Coosawattee River around July 26.  Having expected the rich area described by Soto’s veterans, the results were disappointing.  The ravages of Soto and the deadly toll from European diseases had drastically reduced the population of Coosa.  The main town had declined to a community of about thirty houses, and the surrounding area contained seven additional towns.  Two were larger than Coosa, and five were smaller.  (23)

The cacique of Coosa and his people received the Spaniards with much kindness.  Twenty years earlier, the Spaniards had described the cacique as being twenty-six or twenty-seven years old, and “very much a gentleman.”  Now, in middle age, he still had a great dignity and attributes of nobility.  He would not have forgotten the disrespect and degradation he had personally suffered at the hands of Soto.  Sauz told the cacique that he and the men were grateful for the gifts of food, and offered to demonstrate their thanks by providing any assistance they possibly could.  The cacique and his head men told the Spaniards about the on going war with the Napochín.  They then reminded Sauz of his promise to provide assistance and asked his help in a raid against the Napochín.  (24)

After talking it over with his men and the friars, Sauz decided that he would support the Indians by leading, in person, a force of twenty-five cavalrymen and twenty-five infantrymen.  Fray Anunciacion was designated to go with the attacking party, while Fray Salazar would remain with the rest of the army at Coosa.  The following day, Sauz informed the Indians of his decision, and they were well pleased.  Orders were sent out to the satellite towns for the fighting men to gather.  Preparations got under way, and in six days they were ready to set out.  The joint force of Spaniards and Coosas proceeded north to the Napochín area where they burned one town and forced the Napochín to agree to return to their former position as vassals to Coosa.  (25) 

The Spanish soldiers and the Coosa Indians returned to the first Napochín town that they had occupied.  There they rested and feasted for three days before returning to Coosa.  In the meantime, things had not gone well with the main body of colonists near the coast.  When Luna learned that Sauz had reached Coosa, he attempted to order all the colonists to go there as well.  They refused to do so, and faced with this mutinous behavior, Luna led them back to the area near Pensacola Bay.  He sent a messenger to Sauz, telling him that if, in his judgment, the Coosa area would not support the colony, he should return.  After discussing the matter with his officers and the friars, Sauz opted to go back to Pensacola.  The Coosa people gave them a sentimental farewell, providing them with as much corn as possible, and for two or three days a number of the Indians traveled with the Spaniards to keep them company on the road.  (26)

The relationship between the subordinate primary chiefdoms and Coosa continued for a time in harmony.  Some time after the negotiated peace that the Spanish alliance had made possible, the cacique died and was replaced by a younger successor.  Since the rule of succession among these people was through the female line, it is possible that this man was the son of the woman who had been enslaved by Soto in 1540.  If not his mother, she would at least have been an aunt of the new cacique, and his hatred of the Spaniards was great.  There must have much talk and strong feeling that the next time a Spanish expedition entered the area they would be met with unified resistance.  (27)

On November 1, 1566, Captain Juan Pardo led an expedition consisting of 125 men from Santa Elena, on the coast of South Carolina, into the interior. His orders were to establish forts along a proposed overland route to Mexico, and to arrange for local Indians to supply food to the Spanish garrisons at these forts. At each town along the way he was instructed to meet with the local leaders, and encourage them to swear allegiance to the Spanish king and the pope.  They were also to be told to construct a house within the town for the use of Spanish travelers.  Since the success of his mission lay in gaining the good will of the Indians, he brought a quantity of iron chisels, wedges, hatchets, knives, buttons, necklaces, cloth, and other items to distribute to the natives.   (28)


Sergeant Hernando Moyano, with an advance element of Pardo’s command, visited the site of Tanasqsui on his way to Chiaha Olamico in the spring of 1567.  Francisco Maratinez, the primary source for this visit, wrote:  “Taking the road of a great chief that was in that head of the mountain range, who is called Chiaha, he arrived at one of his towns, having traveled four days.  He found it also surrounded by a wall with very strong square towers of pales.  This town was between two heavily flowing rivers.  [There were] more than 3,000 warriors inside it because there were no other persons, neither women nor children.  They received them [the Spaniards] well and gave them lots to eat.  (29)

Captain Pardo later arrived at the same town with the rest of his command.  In his official report of the mission he stated:  “The next day I left and went to an uninhabited place and the next day the same.  The next day I arrived at Tanasqui where there is a high volume river. The town is enclosed on one part by a wall and towers and traverses.  I made all the Indians and caciques gather.  I gave the customary speech to them.  They replied that they were ready to do what His Holiness and His Majesty commanded.  The land is very good.  I believe that there are metals of gold and silver.”   (30)

Additional information was provided by Juan de La Bandera, the notary of the expedition who also filed two reports.  The first of these, called the Long Narration, states:  ”The captain, Juan Pardo, continuing the journey... [and reached the place] called Tanasqui, which was situated on a certain piece of solid ground, like an island surrounded by water because the place was like that, surrounded by two copious rivers, which join one with the other, at the tip of said island, which is where the village is and by the road on which the captain with his company, crossed on foot one of the rivers which was a great labor because it was navel-deep, and rather more than less.  There was a good distance [from] the spot  where the captain and his company crossed the river to get to the village and on that side the cacique and Indians of the place had built a wall with three towers for its defense.  As the captain with his company arrived in it, he summoned the cacique of the place, who is called Tanasqui Orata, by means of Guillermo Ruffin, interpreter, and other interpreters.  His Grace asked him through the interpreters why he had built the wall in that part where His Grace entered rather than in another place. 
To which question the cacique replied that [he did it] for defense from his enemies, who if they came to do him harm, had no place by which to enter his town except by that place.  The captain in view of the good reason which the cacique gave him commanded Guillermo Ruffin and the other interpreters to tell the cacique that he should do the service of God, Our Lord, and His Majesty.  The interpreters made the customary speech to the cacique and the cacique replied making the "Yaa," by which he gave to understand that he was very content to do and carry out what he was commanded.  The captain, in view of the obedience of the cacique, gave him a large wedge and half a yard of London cloth and a yard of linen and to the three principal Indians of the cacique, to each a small wedge, with which the cacique and the Indians were very content.”  (31)


In his second report, commonly called the “Short Bandera relation” the notary stated:  From Cauchi he went directly to Tanasqi.  It took us three days to reach it [going] through an uninhabited area.  It is such a rich land I don't know how to extol it.”    (32)


From the above we can see that Tanasqui was located at the junction of two rivers on a V shaped portion of land where the rivers came together.  The land-side of the town was protected by a strong palisade with three defensive towers constructed in it.  As the frontier outpost of Coosa, it was obviously strongly fortified against attacks from hostile Cherokees in the eastern mountains.  The fact that the women and children were hidden at the approach of Sergeant Moyano’s unknown band of soldiers shows that the defenders of Tanasqui were in a high state of readiness.  Sergeant Moyano’s estimate of three thousand men could indicate that other fighters had been brought in from surrounding towns for the possible emergency.  This town has been identified at the McCroskey Site (40SV9) at the point where the Little Pigeon River joins the French Broad.  From Tanasqui Pardo went on to visit the main town of the primary chiefdom, Chiaha Olamico, located up stream on Zimmerman’s Island in the French Broad River.  After a brief rest, Pardo intended to travel on to Coosa.  However, when he attempted to go further into the territory of the paramount chiefdom of Coosa, a coalition of Indians, that included the Yuchis forced him to turn back at the town of Satapo on the Little Tennessee River.  On his return to the coast, the built and garrisoned a number of forts.  All these were destroyed by the Indians a few months later.  (33)

Although the local Natives were never conquered by the Spanish soldiers, they had no defense against European and African diseases that these people brought.  In addition, there was a long time of drought that created serious food shortages. These factors led to the break up of the paramount chiefdom of Coosa and made great changes in the lives of the people in the Tennessee Valley.  This change was far more profound than just the end of a socio-political unit, and caused the people to question their deepest articles of faith.  For generations, the elite families that provided the micos and orates to govern the people had, in their god-like wisdom, met all the needs of the people, and life had been prosperous and good.  Then, it was as if their complete world had turned upside down, and the leaders lost their power.  The traditional ceremonies and rituals performed by the caciques no longer brought rain when it was needed and the corn plants shriveled and died in the parched fields.  Strange sickness could strike at any time – sickness that not only could kill a healthy man or woman, but also could wipe out an entire family, or an entire town.  (34)

In these times of change, centuries old ties of loyalty, and even blood, broke down.  People, who had once been noted for their generosity, giving great feasts for the residents of neighboring towns, or even chiefdoms, would now fight to the death over a few baskets of corn.  Strangers were feared, and visitors treated with suspicion, for it was known that outsiders usually came only to steal and kill.  The enemy was no longer the Yuchis and Cherokees in the mountains, but could be former friends from the next town.  In later years the drop in population due to European and African diseases, together with disastrous climate changes forced the abandonment of the upper towns of the Coosa paramount chiefdom.  The people of Tanasaqui built a new town of the same name on the Little Tennessee River.  When these towns were abandoned for the same reasons, the Cherokees occupied the Little Tennessee Valley.  They called Tanasaqui “Tanasi,” and this is where the name for the state came from.  The upper chiefdoms of Coosa had to continue moving further and further south.  The paramount chiefdom of Coosa ceased to exist.  The traditional enemies no longer remained in the mountains, but came down to occupy the abandoned towns of the people.  

The Cherokees took over the Little Tennessee Valley and moved south to the town of Great Hiwassee on the upper waters of that river.  Yuchis occupied several of the old towns in the main Tennessee River valley.  Their presence was such that in the seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries the Tennessee River was called the Hogohegee (Yuchi) River.  They occupied Hiwassee Island at the mouth of the Tennessee River, Ledford Island, and also built new towns such as Chestowa on the lower Hiwassee River.  The people of Coosa, migrated down the river into Alabama.  A portion the Tuskeegee/Napochín reached an accord with the Cherokees and went to the Little Tennessee Valley to build a town they called Tuskeegee.  The rest of the Tuskeegee/Napochín went down the Coosa River into Alabama.  The surviving Koasati went with them.   (35)


When the Frenchman LaSalle attempted to establish a colony on the Gulf coast in 1684, the Spaniards sent Marcos Delgado into the interior to investigate.  His report was translated by Boyd in 1937.  Delgado provides the first glimpse of the central portion of Alabama after Tristan de Luna was there in 1560.  Delgado departed from the San Luis Misswion(in present Tallahassee, Florida) and traveled to the northwest to the lower Tallapoosa and Coosa River area.  He mentioned the Tiquipache (identified by Boyd as the Tuckabatchee; Boyd’s identifications are placed in parentheses subsequently) and other groups known to be in the area in the eighteenth century.  More important, Delgado listed several groups that had fled from the north “because of persecution from the English and Chichimecas (Yuchi) and another nation called Chalaque (Cherokee).  These groups included the Quasate (Koasati), the Pagna, the Qualasa of the Province of Pagna Nation, and the Tubani of the Quasate Nation and the village of Tuave which is a village of Cosate (Koasati).”  It is unclear how long these people had been present in the Tallapoosa-Coosa confluence area, but Delgado mentioned the “five (chiefs or groups) that are settled and were settling after fleeing fro the English to the north”  The fact that some of the refugee groups were still settling suggests a recent arrival from the Tennessee Valley.  (36)

This marked the start of a very difficult time for the Koasati people – a time that is vaguely remembered as “the Dark Years.”  European and African diseases had left only a remnant of the once powerful people.  They had lost their fertile lands in the great valley of East Tennessee.  It is no wonder that many of them began to believe that their very name meant “the lost tribe.”  During the eighteenth century, when the English first penetrated into the interior of the southeastern United States, they found the Koasati in what is now Alabama, and had no way of knowing where they had been two hundred years earlier.  The first known English mention of the Koasati settlement in Alabama came in a census taken in 1750, when the name was spelled “Cauchati.”  Ten years later, in the next census, it appeared as “Conchatys.”  A short time later, James Adair wrote that “two great towns of the Koo-a-sah-te” had joined the Creek Confederacy.   (37)

During the Anglo-French War of the mid-eighteenth century, most of the Koasatis supported the French who had a fort in Alabama near their towns.  England won this war and in the settlement gained control of Mobile and the former French holdings in the south.  This occasioned a Native migration to the west.  James Adair stated:  “Soon after West-Florida was ceded to Great Britain, two war-like towns of the Koo-a-sah te Indians removed from near the dangerous Alabama French garrison to the Choktah country about twenty-five miles below Tombikbe – a strong wooden fortress, situated on the western side of a high and firm bank, overlooking a narrow deep point of the river of Mobille, and distant from that capital one hundred leagues.  The discerning old war chieftan of this remnant perceived that the proud Muskohge, instead of reforming their conduct towards us, by our mild remonstrances, grew only more impudent by our lenity; therefore being afraid of sharing the justly deserved fate of the others, he wisely withdrew to this situation; as the French could not possibly supply them, in case we had exerted ourselves, either in defence of our properties or in revenge of the blood they had shed.  But they were soon forced to return to their former place of abode, on account of the partiality of some of them to their former confederates; which proved lucky in its consequences, to the traders, and our southern colonies: for, when three hundred  warriors of the Muskohge were on their way to the Choktah to join them in a war against us, two Kooasahte horsemen, as allies, were allowed to pass through their ambuscade in the evening, and they gave notice of the impending danger.  These Kooasahte Indians annually sanctify the mulberries by a public obligation, before which they are not eaten; which, they say, is according to their ancient law.”  (38)

As a part of the Creek Confederacy, the Koasatis supported the British war effort during the American Revolution.  When the Treaty of Paris ended that conflict in 1783, the Koasatis feared that they would be overrun by American settlers.  That same year, a treaty with the State of Georgia robbed the Koasatis of 800 square miles of land and started a series of difficulties that led many of the people far from their traditional homeland in the Tennessee River Valley.  George Stiggins has stated:  “About the year seventeen hundred and ninety-three there was an old Cowassada chieftain that was called Red Shoes, who was violently opposed to their making war on the Chickasaws, and as it was determined on contrary to his will he resolved to quit the nation, so he and a mulatto man who resided with the Alabamas named Billy Ashe headed a party of about twenty families, part Cowasadas  and the rest Alabamas, and removed to the Red River and tried a settlement about sixty miles up from its mouth, but on trial they were so annoyed and infested by a small red ant that were so very numerous in that country, that they found it hardly possible to put any thing beyond their reach or destruction, so after living there a few years they removed finally from thence to the province of Texas, on the river Trinity, a few miles from the mouth of said river, where they now live.”  (39)

In 1799, Benjamin Hawkins, the U. S. Agent to the Creeks, wrote the following description of the Koasatis who remained in Alabama:  “Coo-sau-dee is a compact town situated three miles below the confluence of Coosau and Tallapoosa [Rivers], on the right bank of [the] Alabama [River]; they have fields on both sides of the river; but their chief dependance is a high, rich island, at the mouth of the Coosau.  They have food fences, good against cattle only, and some families have small patches fenced, near the town, for potatoes.  These Indians are not Creeks, although they confirm to their ceremonies; the men work with the women and make great plenty of corn; all labor is done by the joint labor of all, called public work, except gathering in the crop.  During the season for labor, none are exempted from their share of it, or suffered to go out hunting.  There is a rich flat of land nearly five miles in width, opposite the town, on the left side of the river, on which are numbers of conical mounds of earth.  Back of the town is a pine barren, and continues so westward for sixty to one hundred miles.  The Coo-sau-dee generally go to market by water, and some of them are good oarsmen.  A part of this town moved lately beyond the Mississippi, and have settled there.  The description sent back by them that the country is rich and healthy, and abounds in game, is likely to draw others after them.  But as they have all tasted the sweets of civil life, in having a convenient market for their products, it is likely they will soon return to their old settlements, which are in a very desirable country, well suited for raising cattle, hogs, and horses; they have a few hogs and seventy or eighty cattle, and some horses.  It is not more than three years since they had not a hog among them.  Robert Walton, who was then the trader of the town, gave the women some pigs, and this is the origin of their stock.”  (40)

As a part of the report on the Lewis and Clark expedition, John Sibley wrote the following description of the Koasatis who had emigrated to Louisiana and Texas:  “Conchattas are almost the same people as the Allibamis, but came over only ten years ago; first lived on Bayau Chico, in Appelousa district, but, four years ago, moved to the river Sabine, settled themselves on the east bank, where they now live, in nearly a south direction from Natchitoch, and distant about eighty miles.  They call their number of men one hundred and sixty, but say, if they were altogether, they would amount to two hundred.  Several families of them live in detached settlements.  They are good hunters, and game is plenty about where they are.  A few days ago, a small party of them from here, consisting of fifeeen persons, men, women, and children, who were on their return from a bear hunt up Sabine [River].  They told me they had killed one hundred and eighteen; but this year an uncommon number of bears have come down.  One man along, on Sabine, during the Summer and Fall, hunting, killed four hundred deer, sold his skins at forty dollars a hundred.  The bears this year are not so fat as common; they usually yield from eight to twelve gallons of oil, each of which never sells for less than a dollar a gallon, and the skin a dollar more; no great quantity of the meat is saved; what the hunters don’t use when out, they generally give to their dogs.  The Conchattas are friendly with all other Indians, and speak well of their neighbors the Carankouas, who, they say, live about eighty miles south of them, on the bay, which I believe, is the nearest point to the sea from Natchitoches.  A few families of Chactaws have lately settled near them from Bayau Beauf.  The Conchattas speak Creek, which is their native language, and Choctaw, and several of them English, and one or two of them can read it a little.”  (41)

Some of the Koasatis joined the Seminoles.  Swanton has pointed out that there is a place  marked “Coosada Old Town” on the middle course of the Choctawhatchee River in Vignoles’ map of Florida dated 1823.  (42)

The Koasatis who remained in Alabama with the Creeks were subject to the general Indian removal during the 1830’s.  They were transported, along with the Creeks, west of the Mississippi.  In Oklahoma they formed two towns that were named Koasati No. 1 and Koasati No. 2.  (43)

In 1922, John Swanton described the three Koasati groups – in Oklahoma, Texas, and Louisiana.  Regarding the ones in Louisiana, he stated:  “Those in Louisiana are more numerous…, and here is the only spot where the tribe still maintains itself as a distinct people.  Their village is in the pine woods about 7 miles from Kinder, Allen Parish, La., and 2 ½ miles north of a flag station called Lauderdale on the Frisco Railroad.  Elsewhere very few of the tribe are to be found who speak pure Koasati uncorrupted by either Creek or Alabama.”  (44)

All three of the Koasati groups are now federally recognized tribes with the sovereign rights and privileges that are so implied.  It is hoped that their lives may be enriched when they think of the glory days, five hundred years ago, when their ancestors were the living, vibrant people that archaeologists now call “Dallas,”— the people who ruled the Eastern Tennessee Valley from the French Broad to Alabama.
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